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1. Name 

historic Loretto Acaderrw 

and/or common 

2. Location 

street & number 1111 W, 39th Street _ not for publication 

city, town Kansas City _ vicinity of 

state Missouri code 15 county Jackson 

3. Classification 
Category 
_district 
..x_ building(s) 
_stru~ture 
_site 
_object 

Ownership 
_public 
..x_ private 
_both 
Public Acquisition 
_In process 

X belf~considered 

Status 
_occupied 
..x_ unoccupied 
_ work In progress 
Accessible 
_ yes: restricted 
_ yes: unrestricted 
..x_no 

4. Owner of Property 

name Calvary Bible Cbllege 

street & number Richards-Gebaur Air Force Base 

city; town Kansas City . _ vicinity of 

Present Use 
_ agriculture 
_ commercial 
_ educational 
_ entertainment 
_ government 
_ Industrial 
_military 

state 

5. Location of Legal Description 
Office of the Recorder of Deeds 

code 095 

_museum 
_park 
_ private residence 
_religious 
_ scientific 
_ transportation 
_other: 

Missouri 64147 

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Jackson Cbunty Courthouse, !Cansas City Annex 

street & number 415 East 12th -Street 

city, town Kansas City state Missouri 64106 

6. Representation in Existing Surveys 

title has this property been determined eligible? _ yes _L no 

date _ federal _ state _ county _ local 

depository for survey records 

city, town state 



7~ · Description 

Condition 
_x_ excellent 
_good 
_fair 

Check one 
_ deteriorated _x__ unaltered 
_ ruins _ altered 
_. unexposed 

Check one 
-------X original site 
_ moved date------------

Describe the present and original (if known} physical appearance 

The Loretto Acadany, 1111 ,West 39th Street, is located on an irregular tract of approx­
imately six acres in Kansas City's Westport District. It is bordered by West 39th 
Street on the north, Mercier Street on the west, and Roanoke Road on the east. The 
Loretto Academy is cornposed of three buildings: the Main Building, a Laundry Boiler 
lbuse Building, and a shop building. The Main Bui1.ding sits back approximately 
100 feet from West 39th Street. The strictly synmetrical massing and the profusion 
of Classical ornarrental details characterize the building in a Georgiam Revival 
style of architecture, especially popular in the United States between 1890 and 1915. 1 

MAIN BUIWING 

Over-all D:inensions 

The.width of th~ building is approximately 270_feet in le~gth, ·with the end wings 
extending to. a depth of 107 feet. .. · · ' 

Construction Materials and Colors 

The building is constructed of brick-bearing walls, with a stone foundation. Sm::x:>th 
stone cornposes lintels and sills, string courses, and window surrounds. The building 
is roofed with composition shingles anbellished with red tile on the roof ridges. 
The cupola is clad with copper sheathing. · 

North Facade 

The main building faces north. It is designed as a rrodified "T", created by recessed 
connecting wings joining the projecting center with projecting end· bays. The 
entrance portico features paired Corinthian collllTI[ls resting on square bases support­
ing the ped:inent. Anthemions accent the slope of the pediment m:1ich is denticulated. 
A round arch with a marble Corinthian keystone enfrarres the doorway and is carried 
over the semi-circular transan. Brick quoining supplies definition for the wall 
surface, as well as to accent the corners of the building. Fenestration consists 
of narrow, paired rectangular windows flanking a tri-partite arrangerrent of windows. 
'!he window of the center bay directly above the pedimented entrance, -features 
stained glass sidelights and carved relief swags on the window eni:lrasures. 

Venniculated stone work surnpunted by a sm:JOth stone string course composes the 
basement (ground story) level. The connecting wings are three stories in height, 
while the center and end bays are four stories in height. The center and end bays 
tenninate in hipped roofs, while the connecting wings have gabled roofs. Ped:inented 
donn2rs pierce the north roof slope of the connecting wings. A denticulated wooden 
cornice, with egg and dart nolding and block rrodillions extends around the per:ineter 
of the roof line. 

The focal point of the north facade is the cupola placed at the junction of the roof 
ridges of the center bay. A balustrade runs along the base of the tower. The 
cupola is clad in copper and has achieved the patina of age. 
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The wings of the east and west facades extend south on the lot. Pedirrented domErs 
pierce the roof slopes. Window treatments mirror the l!Rin facade. 

South Elevation 

The south, or rear facade of the building contains the three-story chapel wing, 
which connects perpendicularly with the l!Rin l!RSS of the building. Windows of the 
chapel, and rear of the main building are segmentally arched. Pedim:c,nted dormers 
pierce the south roof slope. 

The chapel wing contains stained glass panels on the second story level, consisting 
of a rectangular center pane flanked by narrow rectangular sidelights. '!he 
clerestory contains semicircular single-pane wincbws. The roof of the chapel is 
gabled, and the cornice repeats the treatment found along the perirreter of the 
l!Rin l!RSsing of the building. 

A one-story gymnasium addition, constructed in 1928, extends southward from the 
chapel with which it shares a cormnn wall. The fenestration of the gymnasium 
consists of multipaned rectangular lights. The gynnasium addition consists of 
4875 square feet. 2 

Interior 

The interior of the building is lavishly appointed with l!Rrble and rich 1M'.Xlds. The 
entrance foyer contains a staircase of white Italian marble. The ceiling heights 
are approxil!Rtely 13 feet. '!he chapel, an integral part of the structure, 
features vaulted ceilings and stained glass panels. 

00T BUIIDil-KiS 

Laundry/Boiler lbuse 

The Laundry/Boiler lbuse is a detached structure inmediately adjacent to the wmn­
sium wing on the south. The brick building was constructed simultaneously with 
the Main Building in 1902-03. The building has not been altered on the exterior, 
with interior changes consisting only of partitioning. The building is square in 
plan, approxil!Rtely 50 feet by 50 feet. It is covered by a hipped roof of asphalt 
shingles. '!he articulation of the facades is virtually identical. The basement/ 
foundation level is constructed of coursed stone. Fenestration is with narrow, 
rectangular multipaned windows, appearing singly in the end bays, or in a tripar­
tite configuration in the end bays. 

A brick stack which rises above the building is_ located at the southwest corner 
of the building. Entrance doors are located at the north and west facades. 
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A decorative ventilator hood is placed at the peak of the hipped roof. 

Shop Building 

The one-story shop building is a metal frame building set on a concrete slab, con­
structed in 1967, and is a non-conforming structure on the site. 

Condition 

The Main Building and the out buildings are in goQd to excellent condition. They 
are unaltered on the exterior, with only minor alterations on the interior. 

Site 

The irregular plot of land that conprises Loretto Academy has a gradual grade 
upwards fron the streets. 

The grounds are heavily landscaped with trees and shrubbery. A circular asphalt 
drive provides vehicular access to the front of the building. Residential struc­
tures line the rear property line of the Academy. Residential properties are also 
to the east and west. To the north are residences that have been converted to 
comnercial use. The designers of the building incorporated large expanses of 
green space into the campus arrangement, in order to provide a rural atmosphere 
withih the heart of a busy residential district. 

1. Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780 - A Ciuide to the Styles, 
(Qunbridge: M.I.T. Press, 1969) p. 159. 

2. "An Investment Opportunity in Perspective", calvary Bible College, 1982, p. 9. 



8, Significance 

Period 
___ prehistoric 
~- 140(}--1499 
_ 150(}--1599 

-- 160(}--1699 
-~ 1700-1799 
_ 180(}--1899 
_)>_ 190(}--

'Areas of Significance-Check and justify below 
---~- archeo!ogy·prct1istoric _ community planning _ landscape architecture_ religion 
__ archeology·historic _ conservation _ law _ science 
____ agriculture ·- economics _ literature _ sculpture 
__ x"_ architecture _:x_ education _ military _ social/ 
-~ art _ engineering _ music humanitarian 
_____ commerce _ exploration/settlement _ philosophy _ theater 
____ communications _ Industry - politics/government _ transportation 

_ Invention _ other (specify) 

~l:'.:~_if_ic_d_a_te_': __ 1902-03;_1[)28c..-___ e_uilder/Architect Barnett, Haynes & Barnett (St. I.Duis) 

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) 
,.. 

The lDretto AcadEITiy, a Catholic girls' educational facility, survives as one of only 
a few early 20th Century large-scale institutional buildings erected in Kansas City 
in a pure Cieorgian Revival style. '!he architects of the building, Barnett, Haynes & 
Barnett of St. 1Duis, were acknowledged as one of the rrost prominent and distinguished 
firms practicfog between 1890 and 1920 in the State of Missouri. The 1Dretto Academy 
was occupi.ed from 1903 until 1966 by the educational order of the Sisters of lDretto, 
an order that earned reh,1own for lx>th their innovative educational approaches, and 
their racial mid religious tolerances. Tbe building, located within a residential 
district, de! i.berately employed green spaces to lend a rural campus atr1DSphere to an 
urban setting. It has existed as a landmark in the Westport District of Kansas City 
for some eighty years. 

The Sisters of Loretto/Loretto Academy 
The Loretto Order, the first religious order of women in the United States, was 
founded in 1812 by the Reverend Charles .Nerinckx in Kentucky .1 The Sisters operated 
a convent for girls in St. Paul, Kansas, before coming to the Diocese of Kansas City 
in 1899. The Sisters taught in parochial schools before the purchase of property at 
35th Street and Broadway, where they established their first Acadany, in 1901.2 

As the demand for their religious and educational services. increased in direct 
proportion to Kansas City's rapid population growth, the Sisters conniissioned the 
architectural firm of Barnett, Haynes & Barnett to design ne.v and spacious quarters. 
To accommdate the erection of the building envisioned by the.Sisters; property was 
purchased at 39th and West Prospect Place (now Roanoke Road) in Septerrber,of 1902. 
By October 0£ that year, the construction contract had been awarded to 
Step\1en J. Hay de, and construction was ready to begin. 

The cornerstone WdS laid on April 25, 1903, with the building already half completed. 
It was to be ready for occupancy in September.3 The building, exclusive of its 
furnishings, was erected at a cost of $350,000. 

'Ihe lDretto Academy began its third year of operations in its ne.v hane on 
September 15, 1903, with an enrollment of 55 pupils. An advertiserrent for the new 
school carried the following description: " •.• Tbe location is beautiful and convenient, 
.the house spacious and equipped with all the appliances of the rrodern classroom. The 
course errbraces the Preparatory, Academic, and Business Departments, Music, Art, 
Languages, etc." 4 'Il1e Academy served a population that was drawn from the gity of 
Kansas City, as well as from surrounding comnunities in Missouri and Kansas. In 
designing the building, the architects provided enough cbnnitory space on the third 
floor to accommdate as many as 300 young \\Omen. Living quarters for the Sisters were 
located on the fourth floor of the main building.6 
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Since their fotmding, the educational order of the Sisters of Loretto has been asso­
ciated with progressive, innovative approaches to a.ducat ion. The Sisters were 
comnitted to providing broad-based education for ,101ren. In order to ac,,omplish 
their goals, the Sisters themselves earned advanced degrees, 1vbich was an tmusual 
accomplishment for women at the beginning of the Century .7 Their cuniculum 
stressed the sciences and the arts on an equal basis, thereby providing worrEn with 
a full spectrmn of disciplines from which they might consider a career. The Loretto 
Acaderoy was designed to prepare yotmg women for nntriculation into colleges at a11 
age when only a small percentage of women pursued higher academic stucUes. ·Enrollment 
at the Academy grew rapidly, and by 1906 the school had been accredited with the 
University of Kansas. 8 In surmnrizing the creed of Loretto, from its beginnings 
in 1001, Sister Eleanor Craig observed: 

" Academies were a way to give women an education that otherwise 
might not have been available to them. We (the Sisters of 
Loretto) served the corrmunities of Kansas, Missouri, and Iowa, 
and the Osage Indians in Oklahoma.9 11 

The expansive policies of the Sisters of·Loretto were not always greeted with a 
collective enthusiasm. While the Academy wq.5 actually founded as a Catholic institu­
tion, it had always admitted non-Catholics. A school catalog from the early 1900 's 
stated that" ... no student's religion should be OPJ::Osed. 1110 While reljgious obser­
vances were frequently held for Catholics, students of other religious persuasions 
were not required to attend. This magnanimous philosophy was not vj ewe,>ci by everyone 
as the best policy for the school, but nonetheless continued to be th,, official 
policy throughout Loretto's long history. In 1947, with the admitta11ce of Black 
students, the Loretto Academy became one of the first educational institutions to 
integrate.11 While enrollment figures terrporarily declined as the opposition made its 
presence felt, the school soon regained its nomentmn and prospered. 

In 1966, the Loretto Academy noved to a spacious 3-acre tract at 124th Street and 
'\'brnall Road. The buildings and grotmds at 1111 W. 39th Street were sold to the 
Calvary Bible O:>llege, an organization which continued to use the building as an 
educational facility. Cal vary Bible vacated its quarters in 1932 because of a need 
for expanded facilities. The building is currently vacant. 

Barnett, Haynes & Barnett (St. Louis) 

The firm of Barnett, Haynes & Barnett was fonned in St. Louis, Missouri, in 1888.12 
'l\vo of the principals in the finn--George Dennis Barnett and 'Ibm P. Ilarnett--were 
the sons of architect George Ingham Barnett (1815-1898). George Barnett was 
recognized as " ... the leading professional architect in Missouri for rrore than 
50 years." 13 Barnett was responsible for residential, ecclesiastical and public 
designs. 
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'The Barnett sons entered into a partnership with their brother-in-law John Haynes 
and began to practice independent of their father:· 'Their distinguished designs 
ranged from ecclesiastical buildings to h::>tels. Arrong their m:ist inl)ressive 
works \\ere: the Hotel Lafayette in Little Ibck, Arkansas; the St. I.Duis Roman 
Cath::>lic Cathedral (1907-1914); and the Visitation Convent (1893) in St. Louis. 

The Cathedral featured Romanesque-Byzantine interior . and was said to have cost 
over two and one-half million dollars to construct.14 'The Visitation Convent, similar 
to Loretto Academy in its use, scale, and reliance on.classic architectural style, 
was singled out as one of the " ... three notable additions to the picturesque archi­
teqture of St. Louis built between 1893 and 1894." 15 The other two buildings in 
St. Louis cited as exemplary for their time were Union Station Railroad Terminal, 
a National Historic Landrra.rk; and City Hall. 

In 1911, 'lhO!ms P. Barnett withdrew from the firm in order to establish a private 
practice. The firm was to continue, however, with the addition of George!!. Barnett, 
the son of one of the other principals--George D. Barnett. 

'The Loretto Acadany is to our knowledge the only existing building in Kansas City 
designed by Barnett, Haynes & Barnett. 

Present Status 

Negotiations for the sale of the building are currently underway, by the firm of 
Dennis Dark Associates of St. Louis, with the owners of the building, the Calvary 
Bible College. Mr. Dark has indicated that he v.ould plan to convert the building 
into office condominiums with mininal alterations to the exterior of the building. 
The building is currently vacant. 

The 0 building(s) are pending listing in the Kansas City Register of Historic Places. 
The Landrra.rks Comnission =t on February 23, 1983, .and unaninously recorrmended 
that the building be declare4 a landrrark. 

The survey of Missouri's historic sites is based on the selection of sites as they 
relate to thane studiesin:Missouri history as outlined in ''Missouri's State 
Historic Preservation Plan". The lDretto Academy is, therefore, being nominated 
to the National Register of Historic Places as an exanple of the themes of 
' 1Architecture11

, ''&>ciety'', and ''Education''. 
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1. Mrs. Loretto Purcell, ''IDretto Celebrates Diannnd Jubilee", The Catholic Key, 
May 2, 1976. 

2. Ibid. 

3. ''The Cbrnerstone Laid", The Kansas City Star, 25 April 1903, p. ·2. 

4. "Loretto Academy, for !barding and Day Pupils will Open its Third Year, 
· Septerriler 15, 1903", Kansas City Star, 25 July 1903, p. 7. · 

5. "Brave Girls in a 0:mvent-Four Burned in a Loretto Academy Play, but a Panic 
Averted", Kansas City Times, 30 October 1909. 

6. ''The Cbrnerstone Laid", The Kansas City Star, 25 April 1903, p. 2. 

7. Carolyn Robertson Langdon, "Loretto.Strives to Meet Individual's Needs", 
· Kansas City Star, 25 April 1976, sec. C, p. 1. 

8. ''IDretto Celebrates Diannnd Jubilee", The Catb::>lic Key, May 2, 1976. 

9. 

10. 

11. 

12. 

11ioretto Strives to Meet Individual's Needs", Kansas City Star, 25 April, 1976. 

Ibid. 

Ibid. 

Henry F. 
American 

With~y, AIA, and Elsie Rathburn Withey, Biographical Dictionary of 
_____ Arch __ i_t_e_c-'-ts ( Los Angeles: New Age Publishing Conl)any, 1956) , p. 37. 

13. Ibid, p. 38. 

14. Ibid, p. 37. 

15. John Albury Bryan, ed., 'Missouri's Cbritribution to Arrerican Architecture (St. Louis, 
Missouri: St. Louis Architectural Club, 1928), p. 80. 
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Verbal boundary descriptron and justification ,. i. 

lDt 19, subject to the right of way of 39th Street as established by 
Or~i.nance. N::>. 10364 approv\')d Auzyst 20, 1898, anq all that part of. 
l.Dt 18 lyrng northerly of a line drawn twelve feet northerly af and (continued) 

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries 

state code county code 

state code county code 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title 1. Ellen Uguccioni, Architectural Historian 

organization© Landnurks Comnission of Kansas City, M::,. date March 15, 1983 

streei & number 414 E. 12th Street telephone . ( 1)16) 274-,2555 

city or town Kansas City i."·" . state . : . Missouri 64106 

12. · State Historic Preservation Officer Certification 
The·evaluated significance of this property within the state Is: 

national state _lL IOC\11 

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historc Preservation Act ol 1966 (Public Law 8~ 
665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register an certify that it has been evaluated 
according to the criteria and procedures set lo~atl~I Park Se le • . .. . : 

State Historic Preservation Officer signature ~ ru . . . . 
Director, Department of Natural Resources and 

title State Historic Preservation Dffi cer date 

For NPS use·only 
I hereby certify that this property Is Included In the National Register 

Keeper of the National Register 

Attest: 

Chief of Registration 

date 

date 
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parallel with the northerly line of Quimby Park, a Subdivision of 
land, together with the vacated alley to its full width of sixteen 
and one half feet lying west of and adjoining the aforesaid premises, 
IDUIS VCXiIE'S 'lliIRD ADDITION 10 WESTFORT, a 'Subdivision of land in 
Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri, according to. the recorded plat 
thereof. 

Beginning 30 feet south of the northeast corner of the fractional 
south\\\9st quarter of Section 19, Township 49, Range 33, in Kansas 
City, Jackson County, Missouri, being the point of intersection of 
the south line of 39th Street as established by Ordinance No. 10364 
approved August 20, 1898, with the east line of said quarter section, 
run south with said line 498 feet; therice west with the north line 
of 1 Quimby Park, a Subdivision of land, 392.50 feet to the east 
line of Mercier Street as established by Ordinance 13997 approved 
March 21, 1900; thence north with said street line 498 feet to its 
intersection with the south line of said 39th Street; and thence 
east with said street line 392.50. feet to the point of beginning. 

Item number l 

2. James M. Denny, Section Chief, Survey and Registration 
Missouri Department of Natural Resources 
Division of Parks and Historic Preservation 
P.O. Box 176 
Jefferson City 

.Page l 

April 1, 19B3 
314/751-4096 

Missouri 65102 







Photo Log: 
 

Name of Property: Loretto Academy 

City or Vicinity: Kansas City 

County: Jackson County State: 
 
MO 

Photographer: Sherry Piland 

Date 
Photographed: Feb. 1983 

 
Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera: 
 
1 of 12. Main building, N façade. View looking SE. 
2 of 12. Main Building, W façade. View looking SE. 
3 of 12. Main Building, E façade, with Chapel wing. View looking NW. 
4 of 12. Main Building, S façade, Chapel wing. View looking NE. 
5 of 12. Main Building, N façade. Detail of entrance bay. View looking S. 
6 of 12. Laundry/Boiler House Building, W façade. View looking E. 
7 of 12. Chapel interior. View looking N from sacristy to the chapel doors. 
8 of 12. Chapel interior, sacristy. View looking S. 
9 of 12. Chapel interior. View of E wall from the choir loft. 
10 of 12. Interior detail, entry staircase to the second floor. View looking S. 
11 of 12. Interior detail. View of W staircase to the choir loft. 
12 of 12. Utility shed. S of main building, N façade on left, W façade on right. View looking SE. 




























